FILED

JUL 27 2016

WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

NO. <u>13410.</u> Court of Appeals, Division I, No. 748491-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SANDRA J. KEATLEY,

PLAINTIFF/RESPONDENT

v.

DUANE BRUNER,

DEFENDANT/APPELLANT.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Richard B. Sanders, WSBA #2813 Attorney for Appellant Goodstein Law Group PLLC 501 South G Street Tacoma, WA 98405 (253) 779-4000

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Duane Bruner, appellant herein, files this Petition for Review.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Appellant Bruner seeks review of the Court of Appeals Division I decision in cause number 748491-I filed May 23, 2016. Appellant's timely motion to publish and to reconsider was denied on June 27, 2016.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Is review of a Decision merited under RAP 13.4(b) which holds it is irrelevant whether an alleged \$1,000 check for contractual consideration was actually cashed and/or refused based on mutual friendship?
- B. Is review merited under RAP 13.4(b) of the Decision which holds the so called "Earnest Money Receipt and Agreement" does not lack material terms when it has no end date for the option purchaser to exercise the option, no forfeiture clause, and no clause allocating the risk of property destruction or improvement, amongst other material missing terms?
- C. Is review merited under RAP 13.4(b) when the Decision affirms a trial court holding that the trial court may rewrite the contract by imposing a "reasonable" time to exercise the option at the same time it specifically finds the parties intentionally rejected any end date by

- which the "open ended purchase option contract," Finding Q, CP 399, need be exercised?
- D. Is review merited under RAP 13.4(b) of the Decision which refuses to review on the merits claims that the open ended option as written is void as an unreasonable restraint on alienation and violates the rule against perpetuities because these claims were not raised in the trial court, contrary to RAP 2.5(a)(2) which allows claims that a party has not established facts upon which relief may be granted to be raised for the first time on appeal?
- E. Is review merited under RAP 13.4(b) to determine if this "open ended option" agreement which allows the optionee at any time for a fixed price to exercise the option but imposes no duty on the optionee to ever exercise the option thus leaving the property encumbered forever, renders the contract void as an unreasonable restraint on alienation of property?
- F. Is review merited under RAP 13.4(b) to determine if an open ended option agreement with no deadline to exercise the option violates the rule against perpetuities because it extends more than 21 years after a life in being?

IV. ARGUMENT

This proceeding turns on a one page document drafted by Sandra Keatley which she entitled "Earnest Money Receipt and Agreement." See Appendix A Bruner's appeal challenged the trial court's decree of specific performance based on the failure of Keatley to prove the contract's validity because (1) it lacked consideration; (2) it lacked material terms; (3) it was an unreasonable restraint on alienation of property; and (4) it violated the rule against perpetuities.

The document referenced \$1,000 earnest money paid to Bruner by check, but there was no evidence that any alleged check had ever been cashed. Ms. Keatley testified Mr. Bruner didn't cash the check because they were friends. The trial court found that the \$1,000 had been "paid" but also found, concluded and rendered judgment of specific performance against Bruner requiring Ms. Keatley to pay Bruner \$295,000, not \$294,000 with credit for the \$1,000 "paid" earnest money, to exercise the option—which she ultimately did. The Decision characterized the \$295,000 as a "scrivener's error" without any evidence to that effect and despite CR 60(a) which requires "clerical mistakes" be brought to the trial court, not the appellate court.

The document had no end date for the purchase of the property or exercise of the option. The trial court found no time limit to exercise the

option to be the specific intention of the parties, not an unintentional omission. The trial court re-characterized the document as an opened ended option agreement where Ms. Keatley could exercise her option whenever she wanted, if at all, for \$295,000. Therefore since there was no end date she could never be in default by the terms of the document.

The trial court rejected Bruner's argument that the contract was void for lack of consideration and because it lacked material terms. The Decision affirmed that result holding whether or not the alleged check was actually cashed was irrelevant and that the trial court could rewrite the contract to infer a "reasonable" time for the option to be exercised, notwithstanding it also found the parties intended there to be no time limit whatsoever.

On appeal, Bruner also argued the contract was void as an unreasonable restraint on alienation and moreover violated the rule against perpetuities. However the Decision refused to determine these arguments on the merits notwithstanding RAP 2.5(a)(2) specifically requires an appellate court to address the failure of a party to "establish facts upon which relief can be granted" when raised for the first time on appeal. The Decision effectively reads the rule and the many Supreme Court cases which follow it out of the book.

A. The Decision's holding that proof of payment of consideration is irrelevant merits review under RAP 13.4(b).

This issue merits review because the Decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court, another division of the Court of Appeals and is of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1), RAP 13.4(b)(2) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Ms. Keatley testified she left a check for \$1,000 with the written agreement on Bruner's desk, RP1-106; however, Ms. Keatley never testified the check actually cleared the bank. She virtually admitted Bruner didn't have and/or cash the check because they were "friends." RP1-115 ("Q. Do you have any proof that Duane ever received or cashed that earnest money check? A. I don't know what he did with the check. I just assumed that we didn't need it because we were still friends.")

The Decision held "It is irrelevant that Bruner didn't cash the check." Decision 5

The Decision that it doesn't matter if the check was not cashed is inconsistent with *Labriola v. Pollard Group, Inc.*, 152 Wn.2d 828, 833, 100 P.3d 791 (2004); *Huberdeau v. Desmarais*, 79 Wn.2d 432, 439, 486 P.2d 1074, 1078 (1971); *Bogel & Gates, P.L.L.C v. Zapel*, 121 Wn. App. 444, 449, 90 P.3d 703 (Div. 1 2004), all of which hold a contract not supported by consideration is void. Since Keatley bears the burden to

establish a valid contract, the finding is implied in the negative. *Bogle & Gates, P.L.L.C. v. Holly Mountain Res.*, 108 Wn App. 557, 560 32 P.3d 1002 (Div. 1, 2001); quoting *Cahn v. Foster & Marshall, Inc.*, 33 Wn. App. 838, 840, 658 P.2d 42 (Div. 3, 1983).

The Decision cites no authority that simply offering a check which is never cashed, or is returned NSF, is valid consideration. Your undersigned knows of no such authority in this state. The decision was thus of first impression and merits review for that reason as well.

The trial court found Keatley had actually "paid" Bruner \$1,000, but there was no substantial evidence to support that finding. Nevertheless the Decision didn't set the finding aside inconsistent with *Keever & Assocs., Inc. v. Randall*, 129 Wn. App. 733, 737, 119 P.3d 926 (2005), rev. denied, 157 Wn.2d 1009 (2006) which defines substantial evidence as such evidence that would persuade a "fair minded" person. There is no substantial evidence Keatley "paid" Bruner anything.

But this isn't really so much an evidentiary issue as a legal one: is an uncashed check sufficient for legal contract consideration? This is an important question. Bruner would argue it isn't because a check is only of value if it is backed by sufficient funds and is cashed.

Suppose Bruner took the check and tore it up in front of Keatley saying "Honey, we are friends, I don't need this"? Is that legal consideration? Is a hand shake legal consideration? It seems the Decision holds as much. But Supreme Court and other Court of Appeal decisions hold otherwise. Review is warranted. The Supreme court and other Court of Appeal decisions hold a contract without valid consideration is void.

Moreover an option agreement consists of two elements: (1) an offer to sell which does not become a contract until accepted and (2) a contract to leave the offer open for a specified time, each of which must be supported by separate consideration. *Coulter & Smith, LTD. v. Russell*, 925 P.2d 1258, 1261-63 (1996, Utah App.) But here there was not even *alleged* consideration to leave the offer open. The consideration issue merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), RAP 13.4(b)(2) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).

B. The Decision which holds an end date, a forfeiture clause and a clause which allocates the risk of destruction or improvement, etc. are not material terms to an option or earnest money agreement merits review because it conflicts with Court of Appeals and Supreme Court decisions and is an important issue of public importance. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4).

This one page document purports to convey an interest in real property and thus is subject to the statute of frauds. *Family Worship Center v. Weir*, 135 Wn. App. 900, 909-10, 146 P.3d 935 (2006) All material terms must be within the writing or the contract is void. The

court is not at liberty to write a contract for the parties they did not write for themselves. Seattle Prof'l Eng'g Employees Ass'n v. Boeing Co., 139 Wn.2d 824, 833, 991 P.2d 1126 (1999) amended, 1 P.3d 578 Rather:

Under the rules of construction applicable to contracts generally, a provision in a lease giving an option to purchase will be so construed as to effectuate the intention of the parties where it is ascertainable from the language employed by them, and where the parties express without ambiguity their intention, no room for judicial construction is left and no court can alter their agreement, although the bargain is hard or unwise.

Union Oil Co. v. Hale, 163 Wash. 503, 505, 2 P.2d 87 (1931)

Applying *Hubbell v. Ward*, 40 Wn.2d 779, 785, 246 P.2d 468 (1952) missing terms from this "contract" include (1) time and manner for transferring title; (2) procedure for declaring forfeiture of earnest money; (3) allocation of risk with respect to damage or destruction; (4) insurance provisions; (5) responsibility for repairs, water and utilities, (6) restrictions if any on capital improvements, liens, removal or replacement of personal property and types of use and (7) a closing date (although here the court found the parties agreed not to have one.) The contract must be definite enough on material terms to allow the court to enforce the agreement without supplying the terms. *Sea-Van Investments v. Hamilton*, 125 Wn.2d 120, 129, 882 P.2d 173 (1994)

Nevertheless the Decision ignored the bright line rule established by Supreme Court opinions enumerating those essential terms which are obviously missing here, thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The Decision at 5 manufactures a rule that an option need not have a date or method of calculating a date beyond which the option expires, citing cases which stand for the quite different proposition that *once the option is exercised* the closing may occur within a "reasonable time." See e.g. *Duprey v. Donahoe*, 52 Wn.2d 129, 135, 323 P.2d 903 (1958)

The Decision attempts to get around *Hubble* by citing *Setterlund v. Firestone*, 104 Wn.2d 24, 25, 700 P.2d 745 (1985); however *Setterlund* holds it is part of the prima facie case of the party claiming breach to prove all essential terms are present—it is not an affirmative defense for the defendant to prove. At one point the decision enumerates the 7 material terms identified by Bruner as lacking (p.7) but on the same page dismisses Bruner's claim alleging he doesn't demonstrate these missing seven were "necessary to make this contract enforceable." We have already seen a great deal of discussion about why the absence of a closing or end date to exercise the option is problematic. In fact the whole trial turned on what was a "reasonable" time to exercise the option because it intentionally was not specified in the "agreement." Thus the court was rewriting the contract which on its face had no end date. Without that

term the "contract" would be perpetual thus constituting an unreasonable burden on alienation and a violation of the rule against perpetuities.

Without that term Keatley could never be in default for failing to perform an illusory duty to do anything. Without a forfeiture clause the non-existent earnest money could never be forfeited. The Decision states by the time she elected to exercise the option (five years later) the property had appreciated to \$500,000 from \$295,000—but there was no clause in the agreement to adjust the option price to current fair market value, or a preemptory right of first refusal (which Bruner contended was his understanding).

In short, review should be granted to restore the level of written certainty required of real estate options under the statute of frauds as required by both *Hubble, Setterlund* and many more cases stemming therefrom.

C. Review is merited under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Decision affirms a trial court holding that the trial court may rewrite the contract by imposing a "reasonable" time to exercise the option at the same time it specifically finds the parties intentionally rejected any end date by which the open ended option need be exercised.

A court may not construe an option in a manner inconsistent with the intention of the parties, *Union Oil Co.*, supra; however that is precisely what the Decision affirmed. The agreement had no end date to exercise the option and the trial court expressly found "Keatley and Bruner left the closing date open for the purpose of allowing Keatley to find financing to purchase the property." Finding H, CP 397, see also Finding Q, CP 399, "...the uncontroverted testimony that the date was left open intentionally..."

The rule against perpetuities cannot be defeated by reforming the contract to require the option be exercised within a reasonable time.

Coulter, supra at 1261-63.

The Decision at 5 affirms trial court Finding M, CP 398, rewriting the contract to replace no end date by which the option need be exercised with a "reasonable" one. ("...the court will infer a 'reasonable amount of time' for closing...") The Decision cited two opinions which it claimed stood for the proposition that "an open ended option is enforceable so long as closing occurs within a reasonable time *after acceptance*." (Italics added). Decision at 5 Intended or not, this judicial sleight of hand conflates the date, if any, by which the option need be exercised (the issue here) with the date of closing after it *is* exercised. Both dates are loosely identified as "closing" dates however they are distinctly different events, the former being the one at issue here, not the later. If the date by which the option need be exercised is a material term which is missing the deficiency may not be corrected by the court rewriting this contract

subject to the statute of frauds. By the same token if the intentional omission of an end date renders the contract void as an unreasonable restraint on alienation or a violation of the rule against perpetuities, that deficiency may not be corrected by reforming the contract contrary to the statute of frauds. This merits review not only because it is inconsistent with Supreme court precedent but also is of important public concern.

D. Review of the Decision is merited under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Decision refused to review for the first time on appeal whether Keatley failed to establish facts at trial upon which relief may be granted that the contract was not void because it was an unreasonable restraint on alienation and/or violated the rule against perpetuities contrary to RAP 2.5(a)(2) and Supreme Court precedent.

The Decision refuses to consider whether the "contract" is an unreasonable restraint on alienation and violates the rule against perpetuities because these claims were not raised in the trial court, citing *Teratron Gen. v. Institutional Inv'rs Trust*, 18 Wn. App. 481, 489, 569 P.2d 1198 (1977). However that case makes clear the rule only applies when there are not exceptional circumstances such as failure to prove facts upon which relief may be granted. Moreover the exclusion rule is not mandatory even when applicable.

Roberson v. Perez, 156 Wn.2d 33, 123 P.3d 844 (2009) explains that where RAP 2.5 (a) is otherwise applicable, the rule uses the term

"may" which makes application of the rule of exclusion discretionary, not mandatory, even when applicable. Id. at 39.

In addition to its exclusionary nature, RAP 2.5(a) contains several express exceptions from its general prohibition against raising new issues on appeal, including the "failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted." This exception is fitting inasmuch as "[a]ppeal is the first time sufficiency of evidence may realistically be raised." *State v. Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d 97, 103 n.3, 954 P.2d 900 (1998). For purposes of RAP 2.5(a), the terms "failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted" and "failure to state a claim" are largely interchangeable. See 1 Wash. Court Rules Ann. RAP 2.5 cmt. (a) at 640 (2nd ed. 2004) ("Exception (2) uses the phrase 'failure to establish facts' rather than the traditional 'failure to state a claim.' The former phrase more accurately expresses the meaning of the rule in modern practice.").

Id. at 40 See also Jones v. Stebbins, 122 Wn.2d 471, 479, 860 P.2d 1009 (1993); New Meadows v. Washington Water, 102 Wn.2d 495, 498, 687 P.2d 212 (1984), Maynard Inv. Co. v. McCann, 77 Wn.2d 616, 621, 465 P.2d 657 (1970).

The rule's reference to "failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted" pertains "when the question raised affects the right to maintain the action" [citing cases] Id. at 40 That is precisely the situation here for failure to prove the elements of a valid enforceable contract.

Appellant extensively briefed this issue. See e.g. Appellant's Reply Brief p. 4-5, 9-10, 13-14 The Decision does not even cite RAP

2.5(a)(2) or *Roberson v. Perez*, 156 Wn.2d 33, 123 P.3d 844 (2009) or the numerous other cases relied upon by appellant for the proposition it is Keatley's burden to prove facts supporting contact validity and her failure to do so may be raised for the first time on appeal. This includes her duty to prove this contract is not an unreasonable restraint on alienation and does not violate the rule against perpetuities. This was also discussed at oral argument. These issues should have been be considered on the merits; however the Decision is inconsistent with RAP 2.5(a)(2) and *Roberson* when it denied review on the merits.

The Decision's new rule is inconsistent with Supreme Court precedent and is as wrongheaded as it is broad. In *Roberson* the Supreme Court articulated why appellate review of a party's failure to prove facts upon which relief can be granted may occur for the first time on appeal. The Decision is in conflict with this decision of the Supreme Court and thus review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1). It also conflicts with other decisions of the Court of Appeals including *Teratron* and raises an issue of substantial public interest fundamental to the scope of appellate review thus justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).

E. Review is merited under RAP 13.4(b) to determine if this "open ended purchase option contract" Finding Q, CP 399, which allows the optionee at any time for a fixed price to exercise the option but imposes no duty on the optionee to ever exercise the option thus leaving the property encumbered forever, renders the contract void as an unreasonable restraint on alienation of property and/or in violation of the rule against perpetuities.

This "open ended purchase option contract" as construed and found by the trial court intentionally omitted any date by which the option must be exercised, if at all, and was for the fixed price of \$295,000.

Supreme Court authority overwhelmingly supports the proposition that the contract as written is void as an unreasonable restraint on alienation.

Robroy Land Company, Inc. v. Prather, 95 Wn.2d 66, 622 P.2d 367 (1980) states the rule. That case involved a challenge to a first right of refusal preemption to purchase land under the rule against perpetuities and the rule against unreasonable restraint of alienation. There the first right of refusal was available to the optionee without time limitation. Although the case at bar does not involve a first right of refusal, the Robroy analysis is set forth. Our case involves an option, rather than a first right of refusal. Commenting upon Robroy, the Court of Appeals noted: "Robroy acknowledged that the holder of an ordinary option has a greater interest in land than the holder of a right of first refusal." S. Kitsap Family Worship Ctr. v. Weir, 135 Wn.App. 900, 910, 146 P.3d 935 (Div.

2, 2006). Even if the optionee does not exercise his option, he has an interest in land. *Spokane School District v. Parzybok*, 96 Wn. 2d 95, 96-97, 633 P.2d 1324 (1981), cited with approval in *Coulter*, supra.

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