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

does not seek this or any other relief from this court. 

B. The cont.-act contains all essential terms. [Petition for Review, 
p.7] 

At ttial, Sandra and Bruner agreed that the trial court had the 

authority to infer a reasonable period of time for the closing date on this 

transaction. Bruner advocated for six months. Sandra advocated for five 

and a half years. The trial court ruled against Bmner, and now he wants to 

argue that the entire contract is too vague to be enforced. Trial is over and 

the contract has been executed upon. Sandra owns the land. The time for 

making that argument has long passed. Furthermore, the argument fails. 

The "Earnest Money Receipt and Agreement" at the hemt of this 

dispute identifies the buyer and seller, identifies the land to be sold by 
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reference to tax parcel number, identifies a purchase price, and sets forth 

the condition of title to be transferred. Although the parties drat1:ed the 

contract without the help of attorneys, this is not a hastily thrown together 

napkin agreement. Bruner complains that the contract is missing essential 

terms, but he cannot deny that the propetty was transferred to Keatley in 

August of2015 without confusion. 

In arguing that essential terms were missing, counsel tor Bruner 

ignores the distinction between a real estate purchase and sale agreement 

(REPSA) and a real estate contract (REK). An REPSA binds a seller to 

sell and a buyer to buy a piece ofpropetty. An REK is a financing device 

that binds the seller to accept payments over a long period of time while 

continuing to hold title until the pw:chase price is fully paid. Bruner cites 

two REK cases in support of his argument that essential terms are missing. 

While Hubbell v. Ward and Sea-Van Investments v. Hamilton say what 

they say with regard to REKs, they are silent when it comes to real estate 

purchase and sale agreements. 

To grasp the importance of this distinction, the coUlt need look no 

further than the two cases cited by Bruner. In Hubbell v. Ward, 40 Wn.2d 

779, 787-89, 246 P.2d 468 (1952), the Washington Supreme Court found 

that essential tcnns were missing with regard to the creation of an REK, 

but the contract was fully enforceable as an REPSA: 



The agreement contains within itself the essential elements 
of a binding contract for the purchase and sale of the real 
estate and personal property described therein. 
Respondents are given an option to pay the entire 
consideration at any time. The subject matter of the 
agreement, the consideration and terms of payment are all 
set forth and it is evident fwm a consideration of all the 
terms of the agreement that it was not intended merely as a 
preliminary negotiation. It was intended as, and is, a valid 
contract, enforcible [sic] except insofar as it involves the 
make of a future [financing] contract. 

As in Hubbell, the contract in question would not be sufficient to create an 

REK, but it contains all the terms necessary to create a binding REPSA. 

The second case cited by Bruner, Sea-Van Investments v. 

Hamilton, 125 Wn.2d 120, 129, 882 P.2d 173 (1994), also involved a 

contract for seller-financed purchase and sale ofland. In fact, the Sea-Van 

Investments court defined a "real estate contract" as "a specific form of 

financing which leaves legal title to the real propetty in the sel1er to secure 

repayment of the purchase obliga!ion." !d. at 128 fn.4, 881 P.2d 1035. 

Sandra and Bruner only contracted tor the purchase and sale of the 

property. There was no agreement regarding seller-financing. 

C. Substantial evidence supports the trial court's finding that 
Sandra demanded closing within a reasonable amount of time. 
[Petition for Review; p.l Ol 

Open-ended option contracts and earnest money agreements are 

enforceable in Washington. However, the court will examine the 

circumstances of the transaction and place a reasonable time limit on the 
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execution of the contract. Foelkner v. Perldnsl 197 Wash. 462, 85 P.2d 

1095 (1938) ("The agreement is also not rendered fatally defective 

because no definite time limit is fixed wit~in which the property must be 

sold; under these circumstances the law implies a reasonable time tor 

performance ... ")~ Merchents' Bank of Canada v. Sims, 122 Wash. 106, 

209 P. 1112 ( 1922) ("The general rule is that, where a thing is to be done, 

and no time is fixed, it will be presumed that a reasonable time was 

intended."). 

The primary issue the patties placed before the trial judge was 

whether Sandra's demand to close in October of 2010 fell within a 

"reasonable amount of time" as infen·ed from the sunounding 

circumstances. Bruner argued that six months was a reasonable amount of 

time. Sandra argued that five and half years was a reasonable amount of 

time. The coUit found in favor of Sandra and substantial evidence 

supports the verdict. 

The trial cou1t referenced Thompson v. Thompson, 1 Wn. App. 

196, 460 P.2d 679 (1969), throughout the trial. In Thompson, a father sold 

property to his son that included an option to purchase additional 

adjoining land for a fixed price. The contract fixed no definite time limit 

by which the son was required to exercise the option. The son attempted 

to purchase the propetty twelve years later and the father refused to sell, 
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claiming that the option had expired. The trial court found in favor of the 

father and dismissed the son's claim for specific performance. The court 

of appeals reversed, stating: 

If we were to construe this option as fixing no definite time 
we would be subject to the rule that it must be exercised 
within a reasonable time. Restatement of Contracts § 46 
(1932). See also 91 C.J .S. Vendor and Purchaser § 4 
(1955); and 17A C.J.S. Contracts§ 632 (1963). What is a 
reasonable time is to be determined by the circumstances of 
the case. Considering the familial relationship, the 
apparent purpose of the parties that the parents live on the 
prope1ty as long as they desired and for the son and his 
wife to eventually take it and the "estate" language in the 
option, we do not believe that the 12-year interval between 
the granting and the exercise of the option was excessive. 

/d. at 201, 400 P.2d 679. 

Sandra also cited Lawson v. Redmoor Corp., 37 Wn. App. 351, 

679 P.2d 972 (1984), wherein the court of appeals affirmed a trial court 

decision finding that eight years was a reasonable amount of time to 

exercise an open-ended real estate purchase option. 

In the case at bar, it was undisputed that Sandra had a deep 

connection to the land that was the subject of the contract. She had 

suggested that Bruner buy the land after her sister died so that it would 

"stay in the family." Sandra and Bruner enjoyed a twenty year committed 

relationship. They developed the prope1ty together and made joint use of 

adjoining land that Sandra owned. Sandra designed, decorated, 
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maintained, and resided in that house. Sandra believed that she and 

Bruner had a monogamous relationship and she, as well as others in the 

Castle Rock community, saw Bmner as part of the Keatley family. While 

the bonds of blood or marriage may be missing from this case, substantial 

evidence supports the trial court's finding that a deep familial relationship 

existed between Sandra and Bruner. 

Furthermore, Bruner's Petition for Review simply ignores one of 

the most impmtant issues in this case. Sandra also asked the trial court to 

find that Bruner was equitably estopped fi:om refusing to sell her the 

property in October 2010. Sandra's testimony established that she 

repeatedly checked in with Bruner, both in writing and verbally, regarding 

the need to close on the sale of the property. Not once did Bruner tell her 

that she was running out of time, that the deal was off, or that he would 

not sell her the property. Bruner admitted this at trial. [RP2, pl43-45] 

Bruner's response was always the same: "I'm in no hurry. I don't need 

the money." Sandra also testified that had Bruner responded differently, 

she would have done what was needed to close on the purchase. 

Equitable estoppel is based on the view that "a patty should be 

held to a representation made or position assumed where inequitable 

consequences would otherwise result to another patty who has justifiably 

and in good faith relied thereon." Lybbert v. Grant County, 141 Wn.2d 
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29, 35, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000). Substantial evidence supp011s the trial court's 

finding that Bruner lulled Sandra by assuring her that she could wait to 

purchase the property at a later date. 

D. Bruner failed to a•·gue that the contract was unenforceable at 
trial and, therefore, is precluded from doing so on appeal. 
[Petition jol' Review, p. 1 2) 

At trial, Bmner did not challenge the enforceability of the March 

2005 contract. The primary issue presented was whether Sandra 

demanded closing within a reasonable amount of time under Thompson v. 

Thompson. In his opening statement, counsel for Bruner teed up the issue 

for the court: 

And then [sic] contract just fails because it lacks an 
essential tenn, the time allowed for execution of the 
so-called contract. And again the earnest money agreement 
lacked that deadline, and case law will imply a reasonable 
time for exercise of the agreement. A reasonable time is 
not years but months. The plaintiff failed to act within a 
reasonable time. [RPl,_p35] 

The parties framed the issues for the court, presented evidence, and 

the trial court ruled on what was before it. Now that he has lost, Bruner 

wants to intetject new issues into the case based not only on a static 

record, but also findings and conclusions that were crafled to address only 

those issues presented at trial. ., 

Bruner never mentioned the words "restraint on alienation" or 

"rule against perpetuities" in his answer, pre-trial briefing, opening 
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statement, mid-trial motion to dismiss, or closing argument. [RPl, p33-37; 

RP2, p16-26 and pl81-88; CP 422 and 441] Bruner waived these 

arguments under CR 8(c), which required "any other matter constituting 

an avoidance or affirmative defense" to be pleaded in his answer, raised in 

a CR 12(b )( 6) motion, or tried to the court by consent. 

Unreasonable restraint of alienation and the rule against 

perpetuities fall within the definition of an "avoidance or affirmative 

defense." The Division III Comt of Appeals in Harting v. Barton, 101 

Wn.App. 954, 961, 6 P.3d 91 (2000), defined an "avoidance or affirmative 

defense" as "(a]ny matter that does not tend to controvert the opposing 

patty's prima facie case." (quoting Shinn Irrigation Equip., Inc. v. 

Marchand, 1 Wash.App. 428,430-31,462 P.2d 571 (1969)). 

In the case at bar, Brun~r does not claim that the parties never had 

an agreement, nor does he claim, tor the purposes of this defense, that he 

did not breach the agreement. Bruner alleges, for the first time on appeal, 

that the contract is void as a restraint on alienation and, therefore, it does 

not matter whether he breached it. Bruner's unreasonable restraint on 

alienation/rule against perpetuities arguments, therefore, constitute 

"avoidances." Since he has not pleaded these defenses in his answer, 

raised them in a CR 12(b )( 6) motion, nor ttied them to the court by 

consent, Bruner has waived these defenses. 
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The harm caused by Bruner's failure to plead or otherwise raise 

these arguments at trial is especially high with regard to the unreasonable 

restraint on alienation defense. A trial court's inquiry into whether a 

contract is an unreasonable restraint on alienation is highly factual. 

Bruner's failure to raise this defense severely prejudices Sandra in that she 

was robbed of the opportunity to develop a factual record directed at this 

allegation. The trial court is also prejudiced in that it was deprived of the 

opportunity to make factual rulings with regard to this defense. 

Counsel's argument regarding the trial court's use of the word 

"open-ended purchase option contract" proves this point. Had Bruner's 

unreasonable restraint on alienation!tule against perpetuities arguments 

been presented at trial, the court could have crafted findings and 

conclusions that specifically addressed these points. The court used the 

words "open-ended" and now, appellate counsel who was not even present 

at the trial, argues that the court meant "open-ended forever." 

But the court never made that finding nor did it have the possibility 

of such a finding brought to its attention by the parties. Instead, the court 

properly focused its analysis on the primary issue actually presented, 

whether Keatley demanded closing within a reasonable amount of time. 

Moreover, it would not have mattered if the parties' subjectively 

intended for the contract to remain open forever. Washington follows the 

- 16-



objective theory of contracts. Max L. Wells Trust v. Grand Cent. Sauna & 

Hot Tub Co. of Seattle, 62 Wash.App. 593, 602, 815 P.2d 284 (1991). The 

court will impute an intention corresponding to the reasonable meaning of 

the words used. Lynott v. Nat 'l Union Fire lns. Co. of Pittsburgh, Pa., 123 

Wash.2d 678, 684, 871 P.2d 146 (1994). The subjective intent of the 

parties is irrelevant. City o.f'Everett v. EState of Sumstad, 95 Wash.2d 853, 

855, 631 P .2d 366 (1981 ). The court does not interpret what was intended 

to be written but what was wtitten. J. W. Seavey Hop Corp. of Portland v. 

Pollock, 20 Wash.2d 337,348-49, 147 P.2d 310 (1944). 

The contract does not contain a closing date. The only inference 

that can be drawn ti·om this, and the one that is required by Washington 

law, is that the parties intended for closing to occur within a reasonable 

time. If the patties had intended to create an "open~ended forever" 

purchase option, they would have written it into their contract. Even if the 

court were to find that Bruner and Keatley subjectively intended to create 

a never~ending purchase option, such intent was not expressed in the 

contract, and, therefore, would be in·elevant. 

Bmner asks the comt to adopt this radical interpretation of the trial 

court's findings and conclusions so that he can then make his tardy rule 

against perpetuities/unreasonable restraint of alienation arguments. 

Bruner goes so far as to argue that the primary issue at trial never even 
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mattered because, in the end, the trial court used the term "open-ended . ., 

But the trial court cannot be faulted using language that, if stretched to its 

most radical meaning, is susceptible to at'_bruments based on arcane legal 

theories that were not hinted at before, dming, or after trial. 

FUlthermore, Bruner ignores the fact that neither he nor Sandra 

testified that they intended to leave the contract open forever. They both 

testified that they expected to close within a reasonable amount of time, 

disagreeing only as to what length of time was reasonable under the facts 

and circumstances of the case. Bruner's new attorney is the only person 

who thinks the contract was intended to be open-ended forever. 

The Court of Appeals properly rejected Bruner's attempt to nullify 

four years of litigation and a week of trial with his new theories as to why 

he should not have to keep his word and sell the house to Sandra. See 

Washburn v. Beatt Equipment Co., 120 Wash.2d 246, 290-91, 840 P.2d 

860 (1992). "A lawsuit cannot be tried on one theory and appealed on 

others." Teratron General v. Institutional Investors Trust, 18 Wn.App. 

481, 489, 569 P.2d 1198 (1977)(rcfusing to consider arguments regarding 

the statute of frauds and meeting of the minds which were raised as 

"atlerthoughts" following the trial court's oral ruling.") This is what 

Bruner attempts to do with this. appeal. He alleges myriad new theories 

that never saw the light of day during the four years that this case was 

- 18 -



litigated. This not only deprived the trial court of the ability to consider 

and mle on these theories, it deprived Keatley of the ability to present 

argument, authorities, and evidence to defeat them. 

And finally, Bruner argues that the "failure to establish facts upon 

which relief can be granted" defense subsumes and swallows up his duty 

to plead and prove all other affirmative defenses. This nonsensical 

ar!:,'llment completely nullifies CR 8(c) and Washington's case law 

regarding a defendant's obligation to plead, argue, and prove his own 

affitmative defenses at trial. This court cannot find that Keatley failed to 

present facts that support the verdict because she failed to disprove 

affirmative defenses that the Defendant never raised in the first place. 

Bruner fails to cite, and counsel is unaware of, any case law that 

supports the argument that the rule against perpetuities and unlawful 

restraint of alienation claims can be raised for the first time on appeal 

under the guise of a general "failure to establish facts upon which relief 

can be granted." 

Worse still, Bruner made no assignment of error or otherwise used 

the words "failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted" in

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